ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE JUDI Cl ARY STANDI NG COWM TTEE
April 9, 2015
1: 07 p. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Gabrielle LeDoux, Chair
Representative Wes Keller, Vice Chair
Representati ve Bob Lynn

Representati ve Max G uenberg

Represent ati ve Neal Foster
Representative Charisse MIlett
Representative Matt C aman

VEMBERS ABSENT
Representative Kurt O son (alternate)
OTHER MEMBERS | N ATTENDANCE
Representative Ji m Col ver
COW TTEE CALENDAR
CS FOR SENATE BILL NO. 43(JUD)
"An Act relating to imunity for a fire departnent and enpl oyees
or nmenbers of a fire departnent.”
- HEARD & HELD
HOUSE BI LL NO. 125
"An  Act relating to the sale of products contai ning
dextronet horphan; relating to the regulation of dextromnethorphan
by municipalities; and providing for an effective date."
- MOVED HB 125 OQUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 43

SHORT TI TLE: | MMUNI TY FOR FI RE DEPT. & MEMBERS
SPONSOR('s): SENATOR(s) COGHI LL

02/ 06/ 15 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 06/ 15 (S) CRA, JUD
02/ 17/ 15 (S) CRA AT 3:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -1- April 9, 2015



02/ 17/ 15 (S) Heard & Hel d

02/ 17/ 15 (S) M NUTE( CRA)

03/ 05/ 15 (S) CRA AT 3:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

03/ 05/ 15 (S) Moved CSSB 43(CRA) Qut of Conmittee

03/ 05/ 15 (S) M NUTE( CRA)

03/ 06/ 15 (S) CRA RPT CS 3DP SAME TITLE

03/ 06/ 15 (S) DP: BI SHOP, EGAN, MACKI NNON

03/ 16/ 15 (S) JUD AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

03/ 16/ 15 (S Schedul ed but Not Heard

03/ 18/ 15 (S) JUD AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

03/ 18/ 15 (S) Heard & Hel d

03/ 18/ 15 (S) M NUTE( JUD)

03/ 20/ 15 (S) JUD AT 1:30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

03/ 20/ 15 (S) Moved CSSB 43(JUD) Qut of Committee

03/ 20/ 15 (S) M NUTE( JUD)

03/ 23/ 15 (S JUD RPT CS 4DP SAME TITLE

03/ 23/ 15 (S) DP: MCGUI RE, COGHI LL, COSTELLG,
W EL ECHOWSKI

04/ 01/ 15 (S) TRANSM TTED TO (H)

04/ 01/ 15 (S) VERSI ON: CSSB 43(JUD)

04/ 02/ 15 (H) READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS

04/ 02/ 15 (H) CRA, JUD

04/ 06/ 15 (H) CRA REFERRAL REMOVED

04/ 09/ 15 (H) JUD AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

BILL: HB 125

SHORT TITLE: RESTRI CTI ONS ON SALE OF DEXTROVETHORPHAN
SPONSOR(s) : REPRESENTATI VE(s) M LLETT

02/ 25/ 15 (H READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 25/ 15 (H) JUD
04/ 09/ 15 (H) JUD AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

W TNESS REG STER

JORDAN SHI LLI NG, St aff
Senat or John Coghi | |

Al aska State Legislature
Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT:
Coghi I I, prime sponsor.

Presented CSSB 43 on behalf of Senator

M TCH FLYNN, Fire Chief
St eese Vol unteer Fire Departnment
Fai r banks, Al aska

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 2- April 9, 2015



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: During the hearing on CSSB 43, expressed
concern regarding lack of inmmunity for the Steese Volunteer Fire
Depart nent .

DOUG SCHRAGE, Fire Chi ef

Fai rbanks University of Al aska Fire Departnent

Al aska Fire Chiefs Association

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: During the hearing on CSSB 43, offered
support for SB 43.

JILL DOLAN, Assistant Borough Attorney

Fai r banks Nort hstar Borough

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON  STATEMENT: During the hearing on CSSB 43, answered
guesti ons.

GRACE ABBOIT, Staff

Representative Charisse Mllett

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Present ed HB 125, on behal f of
Representative MIlett, prime sponsor.

KACI SCHRCEDER, Assistant Attorney Ceneral

Crimnal Division

Depart nent of Law

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on HB
125.

SEAN MOORE

Consumer Heal thcare Products Associ ati on (CHPA)

Washi ngton D. C

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Testified and answered questions during the
hearing on HB 125.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
1: 07:19 PM

CHAIR GABRI ELLE LEDOUX <called the House Judiciary Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 1:07 p.m Representatives Lynn,
Gruenberg, Keller, and LeDoux were present at the call to order.
Representatives MIllett, Caman, and Foster arrived as the
meeting was in progress. Also in attendance was Representative
Col ver.

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 3- April 9, 2015



1: 08: 27 PM

SB  43-1MMUNLTY FOR FI RE DEPT. & MEMBERS

CHAI R LEDOUX announced that the first order of business would be
SENATE BILL NO. 43, "An Act relating to imunity for a fire
departnment and enpl oyees or nenbers of a fire departnent.”

1: 08: 39 PM

JORDAN SHILLING Staff, Senator John Coghill, Alaska State
Legislature, said SB 43 relates to contract fire departnents and
affects the fire departnents of Fairbanks, Anchorage, Chugiak
and Grdwod. He offered that governnent creates inmunities for
itself in different areas which is fairly common especially when
it conmes to public safety and fire departnents in particular.
He advised that npbst states have statutes that protects the fire

departnments thenselves and its enployees. He referred to AS
09. 65.070, and conveyed that it provides immunity except to
contract departnents. He offered that he researched the

legislative history of AS 09.65.070, and noted it was
established in the md-1970s, and is not clear whether contract
fire departnments were in existence, and that the |anguage was
crafted froma statute in Del anare.

1:10: 21 PM

CHAIR LEDOUX asked whether contract fire departnments are
consi dered volunteer fire departnents.

MR. SHI LLI NG answered that these are .501(C)(3), non-profits and

are nostly volunteer based although the chief will generally be
pai d.
1:10: 48 PM

MR. SHI LLI NG continued his presentation and stated that because
the Minicipality of Anchorage and the Fairbanks Northstar
Borough contract with these fire departnments and utilize their
services even though the statute doesn't cover those fire

departnents, fire fighters, and volunteers. In that regard,
they are exposed to extra liability that others are not and this
bill extends that imunity to those departnents. He advi sed
that initially the bill was introduced with full immunity. He

further advised that concerns were expressed in creating a
bl anket immunity so the fairly commobn carve out exception of

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -4- April 9, 2015



gross negligence and willful acts of msconduct was added. He
poi nted out that the second change to the bill was as a result
of Representative Seaton's suggestion to ensure that this
immunity does not sonehow apply to a contractor of a private
entity.

1:12:10 PM

CHAI R LEDQUX questi oned "does not apply to ..."

1:12: 12 PM

MR  SHI LLING offered the exanple of a village having a

relationship with a contract departnent, and that departnent had
a subsequent contract with a private entity, the change was to

ensure that this bill did not sonehow protect the private
entity.
1:12: 37 PM

CHAIR LEDOUX asked whether this only covers contracts wth
.501(C) organi zati ons.

MR. SHI LLING responded that Chair LeDoux was correct in that
these are nostly structured in that manner.

1:12: 57 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred to a 3/16/15, letter fromFire
Chief John Fullenw der, Minicipality of Anchorage, which read:

"These bill, if enacted, will protect residents by reducing the
risk of liability and frivolous tort clains against nmunicipal
and non-profit fire agencies." He asked what the bill does to

change the liability of the nmunicipality itself.

MR.  SHILLING answered that nunicipally operated departnents,
such as the Anchorage Fire Departnent already has protections in
statutes and this bill does not affect those and if anything
extends its protections, but certainly does not reduce it.

REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG said a bill is forthcomng related to
the issue of retroactivity. He surmsed that this bill is not
retroactive and will only apply to clains arising on or after

the effective date of this Act.

MR  SHILLING replied "that 1is <correct, there is not an
applicability section here so it would apply.”

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 5- April 9, 2015



REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG hi ghlighted that he is serving notice
he may offer an applicability section to state that this applies
to clains arising on or after the effective date of this Act.
Al t hough, he realizes he may have violated the 24-hour rule, but
it is inportant to make it clear.

1:15: 48 PM

MR. SHI LLI NG opined that the drafter of the bill may be on the
line to determ ne whether this is a necessary change as it may
be that this inherently only applies to clains on or after.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG offered that routinely within crimna
law it includes the |language, but this issue has not been before
the House Judiciary Standing Conmttee this year on the civi
si de.

CHAI R LEDOUX opened public testinony.
1:17: 34 PM

M TCH FLYNN, Fire Chief, Steese Volunteer Fire Departnent, said
the Steese Volunteer Fire Departnent, a non-profit organization
in Fairbanks, provides fire and EMS services through a contract
with the Fairbanks Northstar Borough. He noted that |ast year
the legal team at the Fairbanks Northstar Borough pointed out
his departnent's lack of imunity protection and vulnerability
to |lawsuits. He requested a change in the Al aska Statutes that
provides the sanme inmunity protections as offered to
muni ci palities. He expl ained there are approximately seven non-
profit fire departnments statewi de contracting with a rmunici pal
governnent and providing the services of fire and EMS, and noted
that the popul ation base is approxi mately 100,000 residents. He
hi ghlighted his concern that the lack of inmunity protection may
have a negative inpact on recruitnment and retention of
volunteers in the future. On a good note, he stated, by passing
this legislation it may help identify costs and annual prem uns
for general liability insurance that is paid out. He descri bed
the irony of the situation in that his departnent nay respond to
a Fairbanks Northstar Borough call and yet incur a liability
claim of which affects the taxpayer. He remarked it is the
desire of his departnent to offer fire and EMS services safely
and to the best of its ability without the fear of lawsuits and
unwant ed cl ai ns.

1: 20: 47 PM

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 6- April 9, 2015



DOUG SCHRAGE, Fire Chief, Fairbanks University of Alaska Fire
Departnent, Alaska Fire Chiefs Association, said that the Al aska
Fire Chief Association represents nost of the fire and energency
service |eaders throughout the state. He said he joins wth
Chief Flynn, local colleagues, and those of the Alaska Fire
Chi efs Association in support of SB 43. He expl ained that the
University Fire Departnment, the Steese Fire Departnent, and
several others are student based, non-profit fire departnents
providing fire protection to the Fairbanks Northstar Borough on

a contractual basis. As such, he explained, it is not a
muni ci pal fire departnent and would benefit from the immunity
this bill affords. He noted that of particular concern is that

it is a workforce devel opnment program responsi ble for providing
many of Alaska's nunicipal fire departnents with experienced and

training fire fighters. He pointed out that in this current
fiscal envi ronnent , at the University, concern over the
liability this bill addresses could be a factor in the future of
its program For those reasons, he stated, he joined his

col | eagues i n supporting SB 43.
1:22:52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE CLAMAN asked what it would look like for a non-
muni ci pal fire departnment in terns of where there would and
woul d not be potential liability, should SB 43 pass.

CH EF SCHRAGE responded that this bill extends to fire
departments such as his in extending immunity from liability
essentially under the Doctrine of Sovereign Imunity to non-
muni ci pal fire departnents. He described the departnent as
contractors and therefore independent of the nunicipal or
borough government those inmmnities do not extend to the
departnents or enpl oyees. He described its exposure to genera
liability as enornous in terns of nonfeasance or failure to
provide service all the way to injury to his enployees, and
noted it may be a failure to protect the citizens that pay
t axes. He opined that this bill would specifically address
those sorts of imunities.

REPRESENTATI VE CLAMAN offered that currently nunicipalities have
greater protections as it has the protection of the sovereign.
Whereas, he continued, a volunteer fire departnent could be
exposed to negligence and liability for the work they are
performng rather than the gross negligence protection currently
afforded municipalities in the same setting.

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -7- April 9, 2015



CHI EF SCHRAGE offered "that is ny understanding."
1:25: 06 PM

CHI EF SCHRACE responded to Representative Guenberg that on an
elenentary level he is famliar with the legalities of this
bill, but is not intimtely famliar wth the nuances and
effects of the various substitute versions and anendnents.

1:28: 03 PM
The conmmittee took an at-ease from1:28 to 1:30 p. m
1:30: 19 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred to current law and the House
Judiciary Standing Commttee CS, and then referred to [Section
1], AS 09.65.070(c), [page 1, lines 5-8], which read:

(c) An action for tort or breach of a contractual
duty based on the act or omssion of an enployee or
menber of a fire departnment in the execution of a
function for which the departnent is established nay
not be maintained against an enployee or nenber of a
fire departnent

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG hi ghlighted that the first sentence is
essentially the same as current |law except nore elegantly
draft ed.

1:31:11 PM

JILL DOLAN, Assistant Borough Attorney, Fairbanks Northstar
Borough, agreed with Representative G uenberg and noted that the
substantial change is the definition of fire departnent that
begi ns on page 1, lines 13-24 ...

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG interjected that before anticipating
his questions, to refer to the second sentence, [page 1, Ilines
8- 23], which read:

An action for tort or breach of a contractual duty
based on the act or om ssion of an enpl oyee or nenber
of a fire departnent in the execution of a function
for which the departnent is established may not be
mai nt ai ned against a fire department unless the action
all eges intentional msconduct or gross negligence or

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 8- April 9, 2015



is based on the act or omssion of an enployee or
menber of a fire departnment in the execution of a duty
under contract with a private entity.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG descri bed t he sent ence as re-

establishing the liability of ... the first sentence deals wth
an action, on line 6, "or omssion of an enployee ..." He
offered that in other words, if a person sues a fireman because
he dropped a person and said "burn, burn,” that's what it
appl i es. In the event a person sues the fire departnent, which
is where the second sentence cones in, on lines 10-11, "may not
be mai ntained against a fire departnment.” He opined that is the
essential difference between the first sentence and the second
sent ence. Whereas, he pointed out, the first sentence is an

action against an enployee, and the second sentence is an action
against a fire departnent.

1:32: 47 PM

M5. DOLAN answered that Representative Guenberg was correct
with the additional qualification that if the action is against
a fire departnent, a person can still have an action if it
al l eges intentional msconduct or gross negligence.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG offered that M. Dolan was one step
ahead of him as under current law a person can sue a fire
departnment for negligence. He said that "this" inmunizes the
fire department itself, whether or not it is volunteer. A
person can no longer sue it unless the action alleges
i ntentional m sconduct or gross negligence, he reiterated.

M5. DOLAN responded that currently in AS 09.65.070(d) there is,
for municipal fire departnents, discretionary function imunity

for damages. Therefore, she explained, currently a person
cannot maintain an action for damages against a nunicipal fire
departnment if it is based on a discretionary function. She

further explained that the same imunity does not apply to the
contracted fire departnent, such as what Chief Flynn and Chief

Schrage were  discussing, as t hey are contracted fire
depart nment s. She related that the intent was to incorporate a
simlar immunity and to Subsection (c) for those fire

depart nents.
1:34:18 PM

CHAI R LEDOUX remarked that discretionary imunity neans that a
fire departnment can't be sued because it decided not to exercise

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -9- April 9, 2015



a function. For exanple, the Departnent of Transportation
(Dor), if a division does not put up a guard rail, the state
cannot be sued. In the event DOT puts up a guard rail and does
not nmaintain the guard rail, the state can be sued. She not ed
that the first exanple is discretionary and a governnent cannot
be sued for not doing sonmething which is discretionary. The
government can be sued for negligence in sonething the
gover nnent deci des to undert ake.

M5. DOLAN stated that Chair LeDoux "is absolutely correct,” as
di scretionary  functions are generally aspects i nvol vi ng
al l ocation of financial resources. She agrees that once a duty
is undertaken it generally cannot be taken in a non-negligent
manner , but there are certain on-the-scene decisions in
firefighting that could be discretionary because it entails
resource allocation and those decisions are vested in the fire
chief in charge. She offered that the courts have extended sone
di scretionary function imunity in the context of fire that
woul d i ncl ude on-the-scene deci sions.

1:35:54 PM
REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG surm sed that discretionary actions are

i mmuni zed and the issue here is regarding non-discretionary. He
read that under current law, if a person sues a fire departnent

itself rather than the individual, for non-discretionary the
standard is negligence. He referred to line 11, " ..
intentional or gross negligence ..." He stated that is now the
standard and opined it was added and was not in the origina
bill. He described it as significantly raising the standard for
suing a fire departnent involved in a non-discretionary
function.

1:37: 00 PM

M5. DOLAN replied that it changes the standard for the non-
di scretionary function. The intent, she explained, was that
because contracted fire departnments cannot enjoy discretionary
function imunity to |eave subsection (d) intact and allow
muni ci palities to continue to enjoy the immunity. I nstead, in
the context of looking at fire departnents in general, extend an
immunity that is not a full and conplete immunity and limt it,

she highlighted. She further highlighted that the intentiona

m sconduct or gross negligence |anguage is intended to |imt how
far that imunity could extend, and while listening to the
hearing with the conmttee substitute noted it is not intended
to expand the inmunity.

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 10- April 9, 2015



REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG opi ned that he intends to |ook at the

bill because it appears to go as far as it can go.

CHAI R LEDOUX announced she would hold the bill as it appears
this bill my go farther than the original intent of the
sponsor.

1:38: 20 PM

MR, SHILLI NG advised that wupon introduction of the bill, the
non-di scretionary imunity was to non-discretionary activities
for fire departnents. He stated the only action the Senate

Community and Regional Affairs Standing Committee perforned was
the carve out for intentional msconduct or gross negligence.
He noted the intention all along was to expand that immunity.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG opi ned that the committee should | ook
at the bill and ascertain that it does what was i ntended.

CHAI R LEDOUX closed public testinony after ascertaining no one
further wished to testify, and announced SB 43 is hel d over.

HB 125- RESTRI CTI ONS ON SALE OF DEXTROVETHORPHAN

1: 40: 13 PM

CHAI R LEDOUX announced that the final order of business would be
HOUSE BILL NO 125, "An Act relating to the sale of products
contai ning dextronethorphan; relating to the regulation of
dextronmet horphan by nunicipalities; and providing for an
effective date.”

1: 40: 28 PM
GRACE ABBOIT, Staff, Representative Charisse Mllett, Al aska

State Legislature, said that HB 125 deals w th dextronethorphan
(DXM, and for decades famlies have been using over the counter

cough nedicine to treat coughs and col ds. She described the
cough nedicines as containing DXM which when used correctly is
safe and effective 1in soothing synptons. However, she

expl ai ned, when taken in high doses these nedicines can produce
hal | uci nati ons, confusion, blurred vision, nausea, excessive
fatigue, and loss of notor control. She noted that,
unfortunately according to a 2013 study, four percent of teen-
agers have intentionally taken exceedingly |arge anmount of cough
medi cine containing DXM to get high. She expressed that

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -11- April 9, 2015



Al askans take substance abuse issues very seriously and the
abuse of DXM should be no exception. She described HB 125 as
seeking to assist in conbating this problem by prohibiting the
sale of DXMto Al askans under the age of 18. The step in asking
for proof of age prior to sale wuld mintain access to
effective over-the-counter cough nedicines for [Al askans] who
use them to treat cough synptons associated with colds and flu
while limting access to the small yet notably significant
nunber of adol escents who m ght abuse them she related. The
penalty to those who sell to minors begins at $150 and escal ate
to $250 for the second and any future violations, she pointed
out .

1:42:41 PM

REPRESENTATI VE FOSTER advi sed that he bought Sudafed and noted
there are two kinds that can be bought at the front counter and
behind the counter. He asked how this would fit into HB 125.

M5. ABBOTT opined that she is not quite as famliar with the
manner Sudafed is regulated, but not only is Sudafed behind the
counter but it also requires that identification be scanned and
usually the information is put into a data base. She further
opined that this effort was undertaken to track and regul ate the
production of nethanphetan nes. However, she said, unlike
Sudaf ed what woul d happen with DXM containing medicines is that
these nedicines would still be available over-the-counter as a
cashi er upon purchase would check identification or note that
t he person may be over the age of 25.

REPRESENTATI VE FOSTER advised he had to sign a |og book, but
with this bill there is no log book and just the identification
requirenent.

M5. ABBOIT answered that it is just the identity check and is
still available to people wunder the age of 18 wth a
prescription froma doctor, as well as people over the age of 18
who woul d have to do nothing except possibly show identification
upon purchase.

1: 44: 26 PM

REPRESENTATIVE LYNN referred to Sec. 1, [AS 11.76.150(a)(1),
page 1], lines 8-9, which read:

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -12- April 9, 2015



(1) the seller, retailer, or vendor checks a
government -i ssued photo identification and determ nes
the person is 18 years of age or ol der

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN surm sed a photo identification is required
to buy cough syrup but not for voting.

M5. ABBOTT answered "As best | understand it, yes."
1:45: 07 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER surmi sed that the problem is consunption
rat her than sonething being refined and therefore a nore potent
detrinmental drug.

M5. ABBOIT responded that as best she understands, although she
is not an expert regarding the manufacture of drugs. She
expl ai ned that DXM is being consunmed as one would a cough syrup
and in excessive anounts.

CHAI R LEDOUX assumed it is not made into concentrates.

M5. ABBOTT answered "I don't believe they do."

1:45:59 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT offered that the nobst comon activities
with DXM and [teen-agers], in speaking with police officers, is
that teens are taking the cough syrup, mxing it with soda, and
drinking it, which is called "Robo tripping." She expl ai ned
t hat large quantities are consunmed wth health effects

detrinmental to these young kids whose bodies and nmnds are
formng who are looking for a quick high which sonetinmes turns
into nore than a qui ck high

1: 46: 39 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred to Section 2, [AS 29.10. 149,
page 2, line 6], which read:

(65) AS 29.35.149 (regul ation of dextronethorphan)

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG advised the bill drafting style only
sets out subsection 65, as it does not set out the conplete
section. He stated, "it apparently is limtation of hone rule
power s. Only the following provisions of this title apply to

honme rule nunicipalities as prohibition on acting otherw se than

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 13- April 9, 2015



provi ded In other words, he explained, that they can do
anything they want except for "stuff" that is listed here, and

now there is a new section 65. He read, "These provisions
supersede existing and prohibit future hone rule enactnents that
provi de ot herw se.” He stated they have now added to the other

64 provisions this "new little" provision in Section 3, which
says that hone rule municipalities cannot regul ate DXM

M5. ABBOIT replied "You are correct,”" and when |[|ooking at
Section 3, it provides that for other nunicipalities as well.

1:48: 30 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred to Section 1, [ AS
11.76.150(a)(2), page 1], lines 10-11, which read:

(2) from the person's outward appearance,
the seller, retailer, or vendor would reasonably
presune the person to be 25 years of age or ol der; or

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG renarked that Section 1, requires a
governnment issued photo identification. He stated that Section
2, indicates that the clerk behind the counter can sell [DXM to
a person if the person's outward appearance the clerk would
reasonably presune the custoner is 25 years of age or older. He
descri bed the |anguage as unusual which puts an unusual burden
on the clerk and asked why that |anguage is in the bill.

MS. ABBOIT responded that if a customer notably | ooks ol der than
25 it would be an acceptable manner of selling DXM to the
custonmer and not card them at the register.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said that with regard to subsection
(2), he would like to hear from the people in the industry in
protecting the enpl oyee.

1: 50: 55 PM

MS. ABBOTIT noted she could not cite the specific statute, but
that this is comon place in the adopted business practices of
maj or retailers in Al aska.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG asked whether there is |anguage simlar
in other statutes so there is not one requirenent for this one
drug.

1:51: 58 PM

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -14- April 9, 2015



KACI SCHROEDER, Assistant Attorney General, Crimnal Division,
Departnent of Law, advised she has not researched that
particular |anguage, but there used to be a rule that an
establishment had to card soneone attenpting to buy alcohol if
t hey | ooked under 35 years of age. She stated she does not know
if that was just practice or whether it was in statute. She
noted that the |ooks of soneone in determning age is not
unconmmon.

REPRESENTATI VE CRUENBERG opined that it used to be that way and
then it becanme too dicey and the decision was to card everyone.
He stated he does not want to see a clerk have to pay $150.

1: 52: 59 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER questi oned whether M. Schroeder is aware
of laws on the books that have dosages related to them He
asked if the bill would be starting sonething that is very
different ... the exception was made for drugs that were being
refined but there are a lot of itenms in the |ocal grocery store
that have a recommended dosage and what kind of criteria is the
| egi sl ature going to use for deciding to card for "that" one.

M5. SCHRCEDER answered that this is a bit of a new thing but as
long as the legislature has a rational basis for doing this

the record has clearly established a rational basis and it would
be fine.

1:54: 17 PM

CHAIR LEDOUX surmsed that Representative Keller mght be
pointing out that it is not necessarily unconstitutional where
the rational basis would be applied, but rather exactly where is
the 1legislature going. She asked whether it would becone
sonething in the area of a person |ooking overweight shoul dn't
be sold ice cream and questioned whether the conmttee is going
down that path.

MR. SCHRCEDER advised that should the |egislature go down that
path is solely within the purview of the |[|egislature. She
opi ned that other states have tried to limt access to soda, for
i nstance, and the issue has been before other | egislatures.

1:54: 56 PM

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 15- April 9, 2015



REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT stated that the point here is that the
sponsor is trying to protect children under 18 who can walk into
a store and buy sonething that wll severely harm them in |arge
doses because they are attenpting to get high. She pointed out
that there is a section of kids using this in a profoundly
har nf ul manner.

1:55: 44 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER responded that he has no doubt of the
honorabl e intentions of the sponsor. H's said his concern is
t he unintended consequences that may be there with this kind of
| egi sl ati on. He asked whether the sponsor had researched
whether there is a possibility of a conpeting drug conpany
winning [a lawsuit] due to this legislation, and he would I|ike
to follow the noney. He requested testinony from vendors of the
pr oduct .

CHAI R LEDOUX opened public testinony.
1:57:27 PM

SEAN MOORE, Consumer Healthcare Products Association (CHPA)

said he was testifying on behalf of the Consuner Healthcare
Products Association (CHPA). He said that essentially HB 125
prohi bits the sale of over-the-counter cough nedicine containing
dext romet horphan (DXM to those under the age of 18. He stated
that CHPA is the premier trade association representing
manuf acturers and marketers for over-the-counter nedicine. He
described DXM as the nost w dely used cough depressant on the
mar ket and was developed in the 1950s as a non-narcotic
alternative to codei ne cough nedicine. He described a small but
signi ficant amount of teens use DXM to get high by ingesting 25-
50 tines the recommended dose. He pointed out that 25 doses is
approximately 1.5, 5 ounce bottles of cough syrup. He advi sed
that a few years ago the U S. Food and Drug Industry (FDA) cane
to the industry and strongly encouraged it to help reduce the
rate of abuse otherwise the federal governnment would consider
nmore restrictive action. He said that asking an individual to
sign a |og book when purchasing Sudafed is an effort to prevent
having to go down that road for cough medicine DXM nmaintaining
access for mllions of Americans that wuse this nedicine
responsi bly and controlling it, and keeping it out of the hands
of kids who are seeking to intentionally abuse it. He expressed
that this is sonmething CHPA nenbers take very seriously and are
engaged in a multi-pronged effort to reduce the nunber of teens
abusing its products. He offered that in addition, CHPA is

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 16- April 9, 2015



putting legislation such as this and groups specializing in drug
abuse prevention such as, the partnership of DrugFree.org, and
the Community Anti-drug Coalitions of Anerica that naintains
St opMedi ci neAbuse. org dedicated to raise awareness and teaching
parents to spot signs of abuse. He remarked that to date eight
other states have adopted age 18 restrictions and a handful of
additional states are considering doing so this year. He
hi ghlighted that nost national retailers are already voluntarily
restricting sales to children so it is about Ileveling the
playing field and providing a statewide policy to give parents
greater control over the nedicines to which their children have
access. He urged the committee's support for HB 125.

2:00: 34 PM
REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG r equested witten testinony.

MR MOORE said he would submit witten testinony and advised
that CHPA is represented locally by M. El don Ml der.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG asked whether the |anguage in the bil
i s nodel |anguage he supplied, and whether it is enforced in any
ot her state.

MR. MOORE replied that he worked with Representative MIllett and
Legi slative Legal and Research to craft the |language to fit into
Al aska's statutes. He reiterated that this policy has been
adopted in eight other states.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred M. More to page 1, lines 10-
11, and asked whether the |anguage on the "25 years of age or
older" is in any other states.

MR. MOORE answered "Yes," it is generally to provide sone relief
for people who appear over the age of 25 not having to dig
through their wallet or through their purse so they can purchase
the product, and are clearly over the age of 18. He opined that
nost states use the "appearing to be over the age of 25."

2:02:33 PM

REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG referred to the manner in which
Al aska's al cohol |aw have evolved over a long period of tine,

the trend has been to go the other way and have a bright line
procedure. He noted there are significant penalties against the
conpany and the enployee if there is a violation. He asked

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -17- April 9, 2015



whet her that alternative approach has been considered in these
other states in attenpting to protect the enpl oyees.

MR MOORE opined that he did not believe CHPA does has a
position on that being included, as it is attenpting to craft
this legislation wth as little burden as possible for an
ordi nary consuner. Al t hough, he related, if it is the wll of
the commttee to renove that provision and nmake it a black and
white card everyone, CHPA woul d not be opposed.

2:04: 01 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT referred to [Sec. 1, AS 11.76.150(b)],
page 1, line 14, and page 2, lines 1-4, which read:

(b) A seller, retailer, or vendor or an enployee
of a seller, retailer, or vendor who know ngly or
willfully wviolates this section is guilty of a
viol ation and is punishable by a fine of

(1) $150 for the first violation; and
(2) for the second and subsequent vi ol ation.

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT opined that there is no intent
REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG i nterjected "No absolute liability."

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT reiterated that there is no absolute
ltability and she would not mnd taking it out as she does not
want to kill the bill due to this issue. She opined that the
di scl ai mer appears on page 2, line 1, which sets the bar |ess
t han Representative Gruenberg's thinking on the bright |ine.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said the i ssue could be dealt wth.
2: 04: 55 PM

REPRESENTATI VE CLAMAN remarked that recently he was in a sister-
state and bought a bottle of wine yet the clerk did not request
his identification wherein Al aska cards everyone. He asked
whet her other states nay be nore relaxed in terns of al cohol and
giving the clerk authority to make a judgenent call.

MR. MOORE advised he is not famliar with tobacco or alcohol
statutes of other states. He advised that in Washington, D.C.,
he recalls seeing signs at the register wherein sonmeone under
the age of 35 will be carded.

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 18- April 9, 2015



2:06:50 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER noted that he was asked if he wanted a
senior citizen discount. He questioned whether part of the
nmotivation for this in the other states is the threat of federal
action, and questioned the source of that threat.

MR. MOORE submtted that the FDA nonitored the "future study”
which is conducted annually by the National Institute on Drug
Abuse. He said the nunbers in 2008-2009 of teens abusing cough
medi cine intentionally to get high were alarming to the FDA and
t he nunbers suggested the trend was increasing. In 2010, the
FDA held a hearing on the matter and during that tine considered
requiring a prescription for DXM and other neasures such as
putting it behind the counter, or sign a l|log book, and the
i ndustry was opposed to those neasures. The industry commtted
to working to bring those abuse rates down and, he noted, the
FDA strongly encouraged the industry to bring those nunbers

down. He pointed out that this is one of the parts of its
strategy including reaching out to parents, partnering wth a
nunber of organizations whose full mssion is to reduce

substance abuse across the country. The industry has seen sone
success as the nunbers are conming down as a nunmber of states are
adopting the age 18 restrictions. He remarked that the industry
would like to think it is due also to how it ranmped up its
educational efforts in bringing the nunbers down. He believes
the industry is on to sonething and it is the right strategy.
He added to his prior testinony that not only does cough

nmedi cine contains DXM but it also contains acetan nophen. I n
that case, he related, if an individual is taking 25 tines the
recommended dose, the individual is receiving 25 tinmes the
recommended dose which is incredibly harnful to the liver and
potentially |ethal. He noted that its unintended consequences

is what caught the FDA s attention.
2:10: 27 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG stated his hang wup is just on
subsection (2), as the legal standard is on page 2, line 1,
"knowi ngly or willfully." He said he does not know how a person
can be willful if they don't know and the |anguage should read
only "knowngly.” In the event, the seller knows the person is
under the age of [18], they can be tagged with a violation.
Al t hough, the standard on subsection (2), he said is "from the
person's outward appearance a person would reasonably presune.”
He described a scenario where a person reasonably presuned to be
under the age of 25, but couldn't be tagged with a violation

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -19- April 9, 2015



unl ess the person actually knew it. There is a difference in
standard there and he has seen 14-year old who | ook pretty ol d.

2:12:14 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT remarked that she would like a friendly
anmendnent from Representative Guenberg at the appropriate tine
during the hearing.

REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG questioned whether M. More's |egal
team knows whether the defense of age supposed to be on the
def endant, or who would have the burden of proof on that issue.
He asked how that is interpreted in the other states with the
sane statute

MR. MOCRE responded that he is not a |awer and does not have
the expertise in that field, but could ask his legal team to
provide the comrittee a letter at a |later date.

2:13: 32 PM

CHAI R LEDOUX qui ered whether nost of the msuse an issue wth
8th grade kids through 16-years of age. She imagi ned that at
about 16 the teens start noving into other things rather than
cough nedicine. She asked about an 18-year old with a driver's
license with a cough who can't buy cough syrup

MS. ABBOTT responded that the bill does not restrict all types
of cough syrup which appears to be an occasional sticking point
with this bill. The bill exclusively puts the onerous on cough

syrup containing DXM w th incredi ble sedative qualities.

CHAIR LEDOUX reiterated that she was asking how nuch of a real
problem is there with kids 16-years of age and ol der because
this problem seens to be with really young teen-agers. She
opined that at 16 and older they are trying to get booze rather
t han cough nedi ci ne.

M5. ABBOIT deferred to M. More and stated that the studies she
reviewed had an age range including kids over age 16 using the
medi cine as a high. However, the age range was wth 8-12
graders, including 18-year olds. She stated she could not speak
to whether it stops at any point.

MR. MOORE responded that in nonitoring the "future studies" he

referred to earlier it covers teens in grades between 8th-12th
grades. He pointed out that in 2014, 12th graders were actually

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 20- April 9, 2015



twice as likely to abuse DXM as an 8th grade student. He stated
they are seeing it in older teens of which is a potential
gateway to abusing additional substances down the road. He
reiterated that they are seeing a higher rate of abuse in 16-18
year ol ds.

CHAI R LEDOUX closed public testinony after ascertaining no one
further wished to testify.

2:17:42 PM

CHAIR LEDOUX  comrented W th respect to Representati ve
Gruenberg's concerns about the clerk who may not tag someone 18-
20, is that it would be easier for the clerk. She pointed out
that a store could say that everyone is tagged and ask for
everyone's identification. She pointed out that when soneone is
clearly over a certain age, why do they have to go through that
hassl e. She stated she would | eave the |anguage the way it is
inthe bill.

2:18: 35 PM

REPRESENTATIVE M LLETT opined it makes it easier for retai
stores and pointed out that "knowingly and willfully” is in the
statutes, and that the language is fine as it is.

CHAI R LEDOUX said she would look at the phrase "know ngly and
willfully,” in that it does not say it is an affirmative
def ense. She highlighted that the laws generally say when
something is an affirmative defense it is set out in the
statute. She evaluated that it is a burden on |aw enforcenent
to show that soneone "knowingly and wllfully” violated the

statute and is not overly onerous on the vendor. She renmarked
that she is not thrilled wth the commttee naking one nore
thing not quite illegal, but on the hand she is not thrilled

with the alternative which looks like it is going to go the way
of Sudafed and be behind the counter. She pointed out that she
hates to accede to the will of the federal governnent, sonetines
there is the reality.

2:20: 30 PM
REPRESENTATI VE KELLER referred to a statenment that there are a
| arge nunber of products containing DXM and "you" say it's not

onerous but the store has to sort these things out and set them
asi de because otherwise the clerk will not be reading the fine

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -21- April 9, 2015



print just because a kid is underage. He questioned how many
products the bill speaking to, and what about the |abeling.

CHAIR LEDOUX renmarked that Representative Keller has a good
poi nt .

2:21:11 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT stated that [cash registers] can be keyed
to alert the cashier that identification is required, such as
tobacco or nmagazines. She offered that stores can code products
with DXM which alerts the cashier.

CHAI R LEDOUX asked if the bill has been in other committees.
REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT replied "No."

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT answered Chair LeDoux that it is next
going to the floor.

2:21:58 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT responded to Chair LeDoux that she wll
check with the retailer's association to determ ne whether it is
overly burdensone for them and get back to her before it goes to
t he fl oor.

CHAI R LEDOUX answered that she would |ike Representative MIllett
to do that.

2:22:13 PM
REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT responded to Representative Keller that

she wll also ask the National Federation of |ndependent
Busi nesses (NFIB) to see if they have a position on the bill.

2:22:24 PM

REPRESENTATI VE CLAMAN commented that he broadly agrees wth
Chair LeDoux in that the notion it wll start shifting into
everyone being carded does becone onerous for a business. He
advi sed he googled the ingredients for Robitussin Cold & Cough
nmedi ci ne which includes Pseudoephedrine and DXM all in the sanme
drug. He noted that the concept of shifting into nore drugs the
public will be carded for is a challenge for retailers and the
publ i c. Yet, he remarked, at the sanme tine this is a real

concern as there are kids abusing these nedications and there is

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -22- April 9, 2015



no easy solution. He opined the bill is well intended but
eventually there nmay be 15 different cough nedicines going
behi nd the counter.

2:24: 26 PM

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT advised that M. More is a retailer
representative also and that Fred Meyers and Carrs/ Safeway
Al aska QOperations are already doing this for DXM She opi ned
that if it is onerous there would not voluntary conpliance as
possi bly they saw the witing on the wall. She advised she w |
check with NFI B

2:24.:59 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER noved to report HB 125, |abelled 29-
LSO544\ A out of conmttee with individual recomendations and
t he acconpanying fiscal notes. There being no objection HB 125
noved out of the House Judiciary Standing Commttee.

2:25:29 PM

ADJ QURNVENT

There being no further business before the conmttee, the House
Judi ciary Standing Conmittee nmeeting was adjourned at 2:25 P. M

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 23- April 9, 2015



